

Identifying cattle with superior growth feed efficiency through their natural 15N abundance and plasma urea concentration: A meta-analysis

Gonzalo Cantalapiedra-Hijar, Isabelle Morel, Bernard Sepchat, Céline Chantelauze, Gemma Miller, Carol-Anne Duthie, Isabelle Ortigues-Marty, Richard Dewhurst, Isabelle Ortigues Marty

▶ To cite this version:

Gonzalo Cantalapiedra-Hijar, Isabelle Morel, Bernard Sepchat, Céline Chantelauze, Gemma Miller, et al.. Identifying cattle with superior growth feed efficiency through their natural 15N abundance and plasma urea concentration: A meta-analysis. Peer Community Journal, 2022, 2, pp.e31. 10.24072/pcjournal.130 . hal-03684930

HAL Id: hal-03684930 https://hal.inrae.fr/hal-03684930v1

Submitted on 4 Sep 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

Peer Community Journal

Section: Animal Science

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Published 2022-06-01

Cite as

Gonzalo Cantalapiedra-Hijar, Isabelle Morel, Bernard Sepchat, Céline Chantelauze, Gemma A. Miller, Carol-Anne Duthie, Isabelle Ortigues-Marty and Richard J. Dewhurst (2022) Identifying cattle with superior growth feed efficiency through their natural ¹⁵N abundance and plasma urea concentration: A meta-analysis, Peer Community Journal, 2: e31.

Correspondence

gonzalo.cantalapiedra@inrae.fr

Peer-review

Peer reviewed and recommended by PCI Animal Science, https://doi.org/10.24072/pci. animsci.100012



This article is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 License.

Identifying cattle with superior growth feed efficiency through their natural ¹⁵N abundance and plasma urea concentration: A meta-analysis

Gonzalo Cantalapiedra-Hijar^{®,1}, Isabelle Morel^{®,2}, Bernard Sepchat^{®,3}, Céline Chantelauze^{®,1,4}, Gemma A. Miller⁵, Carol-Anne Duthie^{®,5}, Isabelle Ortigues-Marty^{®,1}, and Richard J. Dewhurst^{®,5}

Volume 2 (2022), article e31

https://doi.org/10.24072/pcjournal.130

Abstract

The objective of this study was to test two candidate biomarkers of feed efficiency in growing cattle. A database was built using performance data from 13 trials conducted with growing heifers, steers and young bulls and testing 34 dietary treatments. Different breeds were used with Charolais (37%), Simmental (15%), and cross-bred (40%) cattle being the most numerous. The database included 759 individual records for animal performance and laboratory data for N isotopic discrimination measured in plasma or muscle ($\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$; n = 749) and plasma urea concentration (n = 659). Feed conversion efficiency (FCE) and residual feed intake (RFI) criteria were calculated for a duration ranging between 56 and 259 d, depending on the trial. For FCE prediction, mixed models included the random effects of study, treatment within-study and pen within-study (i.e. contemporary group; CG) allowing these effects to be progressively excluded from the relationship. For RFI prediction, simple linear regressions were tested with the CG effect removed from biomarker values before analysis. Better models were obtained with $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ compared to plasma urea concentration, irrespective of using mean or individual values and regardless of the feed efficiency criterion. Prediction error (0.027 kg/kg) from mixed-effect models using mean FCE and $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ values would allow discrimination of 2 dietary treatments or production conditions in terms of FCE if they differ by more than 0.10 kg/kg. The Δ^{15} N_{animal-diet} values showed a negative and significant (P<0.001) relationship with FCE at the individual level and results highlighted that it is possible to significantly discriminate two animals randomly selected from the same CG if they differ by at least 0.06 kg/kg FCE. In addition, the top 20% highest and lowest animals within-CG in terms of RFI and FCE (extreme animals) showed significant (P<0.001) differences in $\Delta^{15} N_{\text{animal-diet}}$ values, while only extreme FCE animals could be discriminated when using plasma urea concentrations (P=0.002). No gain in feed efficiency prediction was observed when combining candidate biomarkers. However, when average daily gain data was combined with $\Delta^{15} N_{animal-diet}$, the prediction of FCE at the individual level was strengthened compared to using only one of them, in which case average daily gain was the best single predictor. Our findings confirm that $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ may be useful to form groups of animals for precision feeding when feed intake and body weight gain are not available. Further studies are warranted, however, to evaluate the usefulness of this promising biomarker for genetic selection.

¹INRAE, Université Clermont Auvergne, Vetagro Sup, UMRH, 63122 Saint-Genes-Champanelle, France, ²Agroscope, Route de la Tioleyre 4, 1725 Posieux, Switzerland, ³INRAE, UE Herbipôle, 63122 St Genès Champanelle, France, ⁴Université Clermont Auvergne, INRAE, UNH, Plateforme d'Exploration du Métabolisme, MetaboHUB, Clermont, F-63000 Clermont-Ferrand, France, ⁵SRUC, West Mains Road, Edinburgh EH9 3JG, United Kingdom



Peer Community Journal is a member of the Centre Mersenne for Open Scientific Publishing http://www.centre-mersenne.org/

e-ISSN 2804-3871



Contents

Contents
Introduction
Material and methods
Results7
Discussion14
The ability of N isotopic fractionation vs plasma urea to reflect dietary treatment and between-animal variation in feed efficiency
Combining both biomarkers and growth data to strengthen feed efficiency predictions17
Conclusions
Acknowledgements
Data, scripts and codes availability19
Conflict of interest disclosure
Funding19
References

Introduction

Identifying individuals within a herd with greater ability to convert feed into body weight (i.e. superior growth feed efficiency) may have positive consequences on the profitability and sustainability of the beef cattle sector (Cruz et al., 2010; Basarab et al., 2013). Benefits could arise from both genetic selection and precision feeding. Efficient cattle consume less feed to reach the same market body weight (Berry and Crowley, 2013). Because animal feed efficiency is moderately heritable, identification and selection of superior individuals for breeding can improve this trait in future generations (Taussat et al., 2019). Furthermore, substantial gains could be also achieved if nutrition is adapted to individual requirements (i.e. precision feeding). In this regard, feed resources and expensive nutrients could be strategically allocated to certain animals with specific requirements within a herd. Indeed, precision feed restriction (Fischer et al., 2020) or targeted changes in the forage to concentrate ratio (Meir et al., 2021) applied to cattle eating beyond their theoretical requirements were recently shown to be promising strategies to improve feed efficiency. These precision feeding strategies are logically dependent on an accurate prior ranking of animals in terms of feed efficiency.

For both genetic and precision feeding purposes there is a need to develop predictors that may easily rank animals within a herd in terms of feed efficiency where individual feed intake and body weight recording, the basic traits for calculating feed efficiency, are not available on farm. Although current ruminant feeding systems may roughly predict the average feed efficiency for a group of animals fed the same diet (INRA, 2018), there are not yet validated predictors or biomarkers available on farm for ranking individual animals in terms of feed efficiency around the group average. This may be due to the difficulty of identifying common biological mechanisms underlying between-animal variation in growth feed efficiency across different type of diets (Jorge-Smeding et al., 2021), age and breeds (Karisa et al., 2014; Carmelo et al., 2020). Among potential mechanisms, some recent research pointed to N metabolism as a key process explaining between-animal variation in feed efficiency (Cantalapiedra-Hijar et al., 2020b). Growth feed efficiency and N use efficiency (**NUE**; i.e. nitrogen retention/N intake) are biologically linked in growing ruminants considering that body weight gain and N retention are highly correlated traits (Geay, 1984). Moreover, because feed sorting is negligible with most fattening diets, total feed intake and N intake

are expected also to be highly correlated. Indeed, recent studies highlighted that plasma biomarkers of N partitioning and NUE may also serve to track between-animal variability in feed efficiency in fattening young bulls fed contrasting diets (Cantalapiedra-Hijar et al., 2020b; Jorge-Smeding et al., 2021; Guarnido-Lopez et al., 2021). This means that biomarkers predicting differences in NUE could equally work for discriminating individuals in terms of feed efficiency.

In this regard, a new biomarker of NUE for ruminants, based on the N isotopic discrimination naturally occurring between the animal and its diet ($\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$), has been confirmed by meta-analysis (Cantalapiedra-Hijar et al., 2018a) with the potential to identify differences between-animals in feed efficiency (Guarnido-Lopez et al., 2021). Briefly, some enzymatic reactions occurring at the rumen (ammonia uptake and amino acid [AA] catabolism by rumen bacteria; Wattiaux and Reed, 1995) and hepatic (AA catabolism; Cantalapiedra-Hijar et al., 2015) levels have a higher affinity for ¹⁴N vs ¹⁵N compounds, leading to urine and animal proteins that are naturally depleted and enriched in ¹⁵N, respectively. The greater the ratio of AA catabolism to urea-N uptake by rumen bacteria and the hepatic AA catabolism to protein synthesis ratio (i.e. lower NUE) the greater the natural ¹⁵N enrichment of animal proteins over the consumed diet (i.e. greater $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$) (for details see Cantalapiedra-Hijar et al., 2016). This isotopic biomarker can reveal changes in N partitioning in many different animal species (Gaye-Siessegger et al., 2004; Sears et al., 2009), as well as in humans (Fuller et al., 2004). In the last decade, several ruminant studies applied this isotopic biomarker to rank diets and individuals in terms of feed conversion efficiency with most correlations being high to moderate (Wheadon et al., 2014; Cantalapiedra-Hijar et al., 2015; Meale et al., 2017). However, the few studies attempting to correlate Δ^{15} N_{animal-diet} to residual feed intake (RFI) failed to prove significant relationships (Wheadon et al., 2014; Meale et al., 2017). Although we have recently validated the ¹⁵N natural abundance in plasma as a biomarker of feed efficiency variation in Charolais young bulls from the same contemporary group (Guarnido-Lopez et al., 2021), the generalization of the relationship between $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ and feed efficiency across different experimental conditions (dietary treatments and breeds) has not yet been explored.

Therefore, this study used meta-analyses to assess the extent to which $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ can be recommended as a generalizable predictor of growth feed efficiency variation in cattle, across different dietary and production conditions, as well as at the level of between-animal variation, and according to feed conversion efficiency and residual feed intake criteria. Given that plasma or blood urea has been found and proposed as a biomarker of NUE (Kohn et al., 2005) and feed efficiency in beef cattle (Richardson et al., 2004), we compared the ability of both biomarkers ($\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ and plasma urea) to discriminate dietary treatments and individuals in terms of feed efficiency across a variety of feeding and fattening production systems in Europe.

Material and methods

Experimental data

Individual observations for animal performance data and $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ and plasma urea analysis were recovered from published (ID#1to ID#7) or unpublished (ID#8 to ID#13) feed efficiency studies in growing-fattening cattle (Table 1) conducted across 4 EU countries (France, United Kingdom, Ireland and Switzerland).

Overall, the database comprised of 13 experimental studies, 34 dietary treatments and individual animal values ($n_{indiv} = 759$) for feed conversion efficiency (**FCE**) and RFI, $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ ($n_{plasma} = 659$ and $n_{muscle} = 90$) and plasma urea ($n_{indiv} = 659$) measured in young growing bulls (9 studies), steers (3 studies) and heifers (1 study). Feed efficiency tests lasted from 56 d (steers; ID#5 and ID#13) to 259 d (young bulls; ID#8) with an average of 136±75 d. Blood was always sampled at the end of the feed efficiency test, except for ID#8 where muscle instead of blood was sampled at the slaughterhouse once the feed efficiency test was finished. According to previous results from our team (Nasrollahi et al., 2020) and when sufficient time to reach an isotopic equilibrium, $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ measured from either muscle (#ID8) or plasma proteins have the same potential to predict feed efficiency and thus were treated similarly in this meta-analysis. Different breeds were used, with Charolais being the most numerous pure breed in terms of number of studies ($n_{study} = 7$) or individual observations ($n_{indiv} = 280$), followed by Simmental ($n_{indiv} = 112$).

Trials for model construction Breed/Type of Animal/Age ² $#$ Anim $#$ Dietary treatment ¹ Length Trials for model construction SIM or SIMArbeiters/ SIM or SIMArbeiters/ SIM or SIMArbeiters/ Length Leng		FCE, kg/k	50	$\Delta^{15} N_{plasma-diet}$, %0
Diff Simulation construction Simulation for model construction Simulation for al. 2014) Simulation for model construction Simulation for al. 2014) Simulation for al. 2015) Simulation for al. 2017)	Dietary treatment ³	ength, d Mean \pm SD	Min	Aax Mean \pm SD
International different in the interval of the interva		01 0000	0 000	10.101
$ \begin{array}{rcrc} \mathbf{D} \mathbf{D} \mathbf{Z} \\ (Cantadaptedra-Higr et al., 2015) \\ (Cantadaptedra-Higr et al., 2015) \\ 11-17 months \\ \mathbf{D} \mathbf{M} \\ (Cantadaptedra-Higr et al., 2017) \\ 10-13 months \\ \mathbf{D} \mathbf{M} \\ \mathbf{M} \\ \mathbf{M} \\ \mathbf{C} \mathbf{M} \\ \mathbf{M} \\ \mathbf{C} \mathbf{n} \\ \mathbf{M} \\ \mathbf{M} \\ \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{M} \\ \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{M} \\ \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{M} \\ \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{M} \\ \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{M} \\ \mathbf{M}$	10%02+30%0C3	60.0 <u>∓</u> 0.0	.n .n	10 4.24±0.34
	55%CS+45%CS	184 0.21±0.01	0.19 0.	22 3.50±0.38
DH3 CH/young bulk 9 $40\%GS+90\%GT$ 184 DH4 CH/young bulk 20 2^* $70\%GS+90\%GS$ 99 Dubit CH/young bulk 34 2^* $70\%GS+90\%GS$ 59 Dubit CH/young bulk 34 2^* $70\%GS+90\%GS$ 59 Dubit CH/young bulk 20 2^* $70\%GS+10\%GS$ 56 Dubit CH/young bulk 20 $3^*\%GS+50\%GS$ 56 Dubit CH/young bulk 20 $2^*\%GS+40\%GS+11pN$ 56 Dubit CH/young bulk 20 $3^*\%GS+35\%GS$ 20 Otheralization 11-19 months 20 $3^*\%GS+35\%GS$ 20 Dh4 Cumalaptedra-Higar et al. 2020 9-17 months 20 $3^*\%GS+35\%GS$ 20 Otheralization UH4 12 $3^*GS+35\%GS$ 20 20 Otheralization UH4 $3^*GS+40\%GS+1pN$ 50 20 20 Otheralization UH4 $3^*GS+35\%GS+1pN$ 20	65%CS +35%CS	184 0.22±0.02	0.19 0.	3.10±0.25
Diff R S0%GS+50%GF 184 IDM3 (Meale et al., 2017) (D13) months 34 2* 70%GS+30%GS 59 IDM4 (Meale et al., 2017) (D-13) months 34 2* 70%GS+30%GS 59 IDM4 (Meale et al., 2017) (1-13) months 34 2 %SmASH+59%GS 56 IDM4 (Meale et al., 2017) (1-13) months 20 5%MSH+59%GS 56 IDM5 (Meale et al., 2017) (1-13) months 20 5%MSH+59%GS+11pN 56 IDM5 (Meale et al., 2012) (1-13) months 20 5%MSH+59%GS+11pN 56 IDM7 CHiyoung bulls/ 12 2 6%GS+40%GS+11pN 56 IDM7 Cantalaptedra-Hijar et al., 2020) 9-17 months 8 4 6%GS+40%GS+11pN 220 IDM7 Cantalaptedra-Hijar et al., 2020) 9-17 months 8 4 6%GS+40%GF1PP 220 IDM80 CHiyoung bulls/ 12 2 6%GS+40%GF1PP 229 6%GS+40%GF1PP 2	40%GS+60%CF	184 0.18 ± 0.01	0.16 0.	20 3.66±0.38
ID#3 CH/young bulk/ 20 2^* $70\%GGS+30\%GS$ 99 ID#4 ID#4 CHX or LI/Nsters/ 20 2^* $70\%GGS+30\%GS$ 99 ID#4 CHX or LI/Nsters/ 40 2 $8\%GGS+30\%GS$ 56 ID#4 CHX or LI/Nsters/ 40 2 $8\%GGS+30\%GS$ 56 ID#6 CHX or LI/Nsters/ 20 4 $5\%MS+45\%GS+Lip$ 56 ID#6 CHYoung bulk 13-15 months 20 4 $5\%MS+45\%GS+Lip$ 56 ID#6 CHYoung bulk 13-15 months 20 4 $5\%MS+45\%GS+Lip$ 56 ID#6 CHYoung bulk 12 20 $5\%MS+45\%GS+Lip$ 56 ID#7 Cantalapiedara-Hijar et al. 2020 11-19 months 12 $20\%GS+40\%GS+Hp$ 220 ID#8 Cantalapiedara-Hijar et al. 2020a 9-17 months 12 $20\%GS+40\%GS+Hp$ 220 ID#10 Cantalapiedara-Hijar et al. 2020a 11-14 months 12 $6\%GS+40\%GS+Hp$ 220 ID#10	50%GS+50%CF	184 0.17 ± 0.01	0.14 0.	3.92±0.18
0hcale er al. 2017 $10-13$ months 34 $70%GS + 30%GS$ 99 $Dh4$ $CHx or LU/steers/$ $13-15$ months 34 $70%GS + 30%GS$ 56 $Dh4S$ $Dh4M$ T $70%GS + 30%GS$ 56 $Dh4S$ $Dh4M$ T $70%GS + 30%GS$ 56 $Dh4S$ T $S0%MS + 45%GS + 1ipN$ 56 $Dh4S$ T $S0%MS + 45%GS + 1ipN$ 56 $Dh4S$ T $S0%MS + 45%GS + 1ipN$ 56 MS T T $S0%MS + 45%GS + 1ipN$ 56 MS MS $11-19$ $11-19$ 12 200 $55%MS + 45%GS + 1ipN$ 56 MS MS $11-19$ $11-19$ $11-19$ $11-19$ 220 MS MS $11-19$ $11-19$ $11-19$ 220 MS MS MS $11-19$ 220 220 220 MS MS MS MS $210%GS + 40%GFHP$	70%GS+30%CS	99 0.21 ± 0.02	0.18 0.	25 3.76±0.26
D#4 CHX or LU/steers/ 40 2 %Shaw+92%CS 56 (Dufie et al., 2017) 13-15 months 20 4 55%MS+45%CS+Lip 56 (Daffe et al., 2018) 13-15 months 20 4 55%MS+45%CS+Lip 56 (Meale et al., 2018) 13-15 months 20 55%MS+45%CS+Lip 56 (Meale et al., 2018) 13-15 months 20 55%MS+45%CS+Lip 56 (Meale et al., 2020) CHyoung bulls/ 12 2 65%GS+35%CS+Lip 52 (Marticel) UH#7 112 2 65%GS+35%CS+Lip 220 (Marticel) UH#7 112 2 65%GS+35%CS+Lip 220 (Marticel) UH#7 112 2 65%GS+35%CS+Lip 220 (Marticel) UH#7 NOVyoung 12 6 65%GS+35%CS+Lip 220 (Marticel) UHX, SIMX, MO/young 15 6 70%GSB+40%CFLp 220 (Marticel) UHX, SIMX, MO/young 15 6 70%CSB 220 <t< td=""><td>70%GS+30%CS</td><td>99 0.20±0.02</td><td>0.16 0.</td><td>25 3.79±0.31</td></t<>	70%GS+30%CS	99 0.20±0.02	0.16 0.	25 3.79±0.31
Dubbis et al., 2017) 13-15 months 40 50%MS+45%CS+Lip 56 Diffs ANGx or LIMx/steers/ 20 4 55%MS+45%CS+Lip 56 Meade et al., 2018) 13-15 months 20 55%MS+45%CS+Lip 56 Mast States 20 55%MS+45%CS+Lip 56 Anst Alge 12 65%GS+45%CS+Lip 56 Mast States 12 05%GS+40%CS+Lip 50 Anst States 12 65%GS+40%CS+Lip 52 Anst States 12 65%GS+40%CS+Lip 20 Mast States 12 60%GS+40%CS+Lip 20 Anst States 12 60%GS+40%CS+Lip 20 Mast States 12 60%GS+40%CS+Lip 20 Mast States 12 60%GS+40%CS+Lip 20 Mast States 13 13 60%GS+40%CS+	8%Straw+92%CS	56 0.15±0.02	0.10 0.	20 2.90±0.27
ID#6 ANGs or LIMX sterst 20 4 55%MS+45%CS+Lip 56 (Meale et al., 2018) 13-15 months 20 55%MS+45%CS+Lip 56 D#6 CH/young bulls 20 55%MS+45%CS+Lip 56 Off S5%MS+45%CS+Lip 56 D#7 20 55%MS+45%CS+Lip 56 Off CH/young bulls 12 2 65%CS+35%CS+Lip 20 (Cantalipriedra-Hijar et al., 2020) 11-19 months 8 4 60%GS+40%CFLP 220 (Cantalipriedra-Hijar et al., 2020a) 9-17 months 8 4 60%GS+40%CFLP 220 (Cantalipriedra-Hijar et al., 2020a) 9-17 months 8 4 60%GS+40%CFLP 220 (Umpublished) bulls/5-13 months 8 4 60%GS+40%CFLP 220 (Umpublished) bulls/5-13 months 15 6 70%CSH+90%CFLP 220 (Umpublished) bulls/5-13 months 15 6 70%CSH+90%CFLP 220 (Umpublished) bulls/5-13 months 15 <td>50%MS+50%CS</td> <td>56 0.15±0.02</td> <td>0.10 0.</td> <td>18 2.74±0.38</td>	50%MS+50%CS	56 0.15±0.02	0.10 0.	18 2.74±0.38
(Meade et al., 2018) [13-15 months 20 55%MS45%GS+LipN 56 ID#6 CH/young bulls 20 55%MS45%GS+LipN 56 ID#7 CH/young bulls 12 2 65%GS + 35%GS + 1ipN 54 (Nascollahi et al., 2020) 11-19 months 12 2 65%GS + 35%GS + 1ipN 54 (Nascollahi et al., 2020) 0.11 119 months 12 2 65%GS + 40%GFHP 220 (Nascollahi et al., 2020a) 9-17 months 8 4 60%GS + 40%GFHP 220 (nynublished) DH#8 LIMx, SIMx, MOlyoung 15 6 70%GS + 40%CFHP 229 (unpublished) bulls/5-13 months 15 6 70%GS + 40%CFHP 229 (unpublished) bulls/5-13 months 15 6 70%GS + 49%CFHP 229 (mpublished) bulls/5-13 months 15 6 70%GS + 49%CFHP 229 (mpublished) DH#9 5 6 70%GS + 37%CI 229 DP#9 <	55%MS+45%CS	56 0.15±0.01	0.13 0.	17 3.60±0.25
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	55%MS+45%CS+Lip	56 0.15±0.01	0.12 0.	18 3.68±0.30
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	55%MS+45%CS+Nit	56 0.13±0.01	0.11 0.	16 4.23±0.35
ID#6 CH/young bulls/ 12 2 65%GS + 35%CS 240 $Marcollahi et al. 2020$ 11-19 months 12 65%GS + 40%CFLP 220 $Marcollahi et al. 2020$ 9-17 months 8 4 60%GS + 40%CFLP 220 $(Cantalapiedra-Hijar et al. 2020a) 9-17 months 8 4 60%GS + 40%CFLP 220 (Cantalapiedra-Hijar et al. 2020a) 9-17 months 9 60%GS + 40%CFLP 220 (Cantalapiedra-Hijar et al. 2020a) 9-17 months 9 60%GS + 40%CFLP 220 (mpublished) bulls/5-13 months 15 6 70%GS + 40%CFLP 229 (unpublished) bulls/5-13 months 15 60%GS + 40%CFLP 229 (unpublished) bulls/5-13 months 14 23%GS + 37%CF 239 (unpublished) NNCs, LIMx, SIMx/young 59 27%GS + 37%CF 239 (unpublished) 0.13 70%GS + 39%CF 239 23%GS + 37%CF 239 (unpublished) 0.13 70%GS + 37%GF 239%GS + 39%GF 121 $	55%MS+45%CS+LipN	56 0.14±0.01	0.11 0.	16 4.39±0.26
(Nasrollahi et al., 2020) 11-19 months 12 65%GS + 40%CFLP 220 $\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{H}T}^{\mathbf{H}T}$ \mathbf{CH} young bulls/ 8 4 60%GS + 40%CFLP 220 (Cantalapiedra-Hijar et al., 2020a) 9-17 months 9 60%GS + 40%CFLP 220 (Cantalapiedra-Hijar et al., 2020a) 9-17 months 9 60%GS + 40%CFHP 220 (mpublished) Dulls/5-13 months 15 6 70%GS + 40%CFHP 229 (mpublished) Dulls/5-13 months 15 6 70%GS + 40%CFHP 229 (mpublished) Dulls/5-13 months 15 6 70%GS + 40%CFBM 239 (mpublished) Dulls/5-13 months 15 6 70%GS + 40%CFBM 239 (mpublished) Dulls/5-13 months 14 70%GS + 30%CFS 259 (mpublished) Dulls/5-8 months 30 80%MS + 30%CFS 259 (mpublished) Dulls/5-8 months 30 80%MS + 30%CFS 85 (mpublished) Dulls/5-8 months 25 6 70%CSS + 30%CFS	65%GS + 35%CS	240 0.16±0.01	0.14 0.	4.04 ± 0.37
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	65%CS + 35%CF	240 0.19±0.02	0.15 0.	21 3.19±0.41
	60%GS + $40%$ CFLP	220 0.19±0.02	0.15 0.	21 2.63±0.15
9 60%dGS + 40%dFHP 220 D#8 LlMx, SlMx, MOlyoung 15 60%dGS + 40%dFHP ⁸ 229 0 00%dGS + 40%dFHP ⁸ 239 239 239 0 0%dGS + 37%dC B 239 239 239 0 0%dGS + 37%dC B 239 239 239 239 0 0 0%dC SS + 30%dC B 239 239 239 239 0 0 0 14 70%dC SS + 30%dC B 239 0 0 0 14 70%dC SS + 30%dC B 239 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	60%GS + $40%$ CFLP ^{\$}	220 0.19±0.02	0.16 0.	23 2.46±0.26
D#8 0.0% GS + 40\%CFHP ⁸ 220 ID#8 LIMx, SIMx, MO/young 15 6 70%GS + 30%CRSMH 239 (unpublished) bulls/5-13 months 15 6 70%GS + 30%CRSMH 239 (unpublished) bulls/5-13 months 15 60%GS + 37%CL 239 239 (unpublished) bulls/5-13 months 15 60%GS + 37%CL 239 239 D#9 ANGx, LIMx, SIMx/young 59 2 70%GSBH + 30%CFB 259 (mpublished) Dulls/5-8 months 30 80%MS + 30%CFB 259 (mpublished) D(1-3 months 30 80%MS + 20%CFB 85 (mpublished) 10-13 months 25 2 65%GS+35%CFF 85 0m111 CH, young bulls/11-14 months 2 55%GS+35%CFF 112 0mplished) Dm112/12-16 months 2 55%GS+35%CFF 104 0mplished) Dm112/12-16 months 2 55%GS+35%CFF 104 Dm111 Dm111/12-16 months 2 55%GS+45%CFFS	60%GS + $40%$ CFHP	220 0.19 ± 0.02	0.17 0.	21 2.37±0.25
ID#8 LIMx, SIMx, MOlyoung 15 6 70%CS+30%CSBM 259 (unpublished) bulls/5-13 months 15 60%CS+30%CSBM 259 15 60%CS+30%CRSM+Pea 259 16 63%CS+37%CL 259 170%MS+30%CRSM 259 170%MS+30%CSBM 259 14 70%MS+30%CSBM 14 70%CSSh+30%CSBM 14 70%CSSh+30%CSBM 16 63%MS+37%CPS 17 60%MS+20%CSBM 18 70%CSSh+30%CSBM 19 70%GSSh+30%CSBM 10 14 70%GSSh+30%CSBM 10 13 70%CSSh+30%CSBM 10 14 70%CSSh+30%CSBM 10 111 70%CSSh+30%CSBM 10 111 70%CSSh+30%CSB 10 111 112 (unpublished) 10-13 months 25 10#11 0111-14 months 21 2 10#11 0111-14 months 21 5%GS+45%CRPS	60%GS + $40%$ CFHP ^{\$}	220 0.21±0.02	0.19 0.	24 2.36±0.16
	70%CS+30%CSBM	259 0.22±0.02	0.19 0.	26 2.73±0.29 [°]
15 63%CS + 37%CL 259 16 70%MS + 30%CCL 259 17 0%MS + 30%CPea 259 18 70%GSSh + 30%CPSBM 259 19 70%GSSh + 30%CPSBM 259 10 0%GSSh + 30%CPSBM 259 10 0%GSSh + 30%CPSBM 259 10 0%GSSh + 30%CPS 85 (upublished) 0113 259 2 70%GSSh + 30%CPS 85 0 0 0713 25 2 65%GSS + 30%CPS 85 0 0 0 10 3 1 65%GSS 85 0 0 0 10 3 1 65%GS 85 112 0 0 0 10 3 1 65%GS 85 104 0 0 0 10 13 12 12 12 112 0 0 0 10 13 1 65%GS 45%GRPS 104 0 0 0 10 11 11 10	60%CS + 40%CRSM+Pea	259 0.20±0.01	0.18 0.	3.24±0.23
15 70%MS + 30%CL 259 14 70%MS + 30%CPea 259 14 70%CSSh = 30%CPsa 259 170%CSSh = 30%CPS 85 (upublished) bulls/5-8 months 30 87 87 10#10 CH/young bulls/ 25 2 70%CSSh = 30%CPsa 85 (upublished) DH10 CH/young bulls/ 25 2 65%CS+35%CRS 85 10#10 CH/young bulls/ 25 2 65%GS+35%CRS 85 85 (upublished) 10-13 months 25 2 65%GS+35%CRS 85 85 10#11 Unpublished) 10-13 months 21 2 55%GS+45%CRS 85 104 10#12 CH/young bulls/11-14 months 21 2 55%GS+45%CRS 104 104 10#12 Umpublished) DM12 2 55%GS+45%CRS 104 104 10#13 Umpublished) DM15/11-14 months 21 2 55%GS+45%CRS 104 10#13 Umpublished) DM12 2 55%GS+45%CRS 56 56 </td <td>63%CS + 37%CL</td> <td>259 0.20±0.01</td> <td>0.17 0.</td> <td>23 3.27±0.21[°]</td>	63%CS + 37%CL	259 0.20±0.01	0.17 0.	23 3.27±0.21 [°]
Id 63%MS + 37%CPea 259 D#9 ANGx, LIMx, SIMx/young 14 63%MS + 37%CPea 259 $(upublished)$ bulls/5-8 months 30 29 70%CSBh 30%CSBM 259 $(upublished)$ bulls/5-8 months 30 25 70%CSBh 30%SSBM 85 $(upublished)$ bulls/5-8 months 30 25 70%GSB359%CPS 85 $(upublished)$ DH10 CHyoung bulls/ 25 65%GS+35%CPS 85 $(upublished)$ 10-13 months 25 65%GS+35%CPS 85 85 $(upublished)$ DH11 CHx, ANGx, SAL/young 33 1 65%GS+35%CPS 85 $(upublished)$ bulls/12-16 months 21 2 55%CS + 45%CPS 104 $(upublished)$ DH13 21 2 55%CS + 45%CPS 104 $(upublished)$ DM43 2 55%CS + 45%CPS 104 $(upublished)$ DM43 2 55%GS + 45%CPS 104 $(upublished)$	70%MS + 30%CL	259 0.21±0.01	0.19 0.	3.19±0.19
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	63%MS + 37%CPea	259 0.20±0.01	0.18 0.	3.02±0.24
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	70%CSSh + $30%$ CSBM	259 0.21±0.02	0.16 0.	25 2.73±0.29 [°]
	70%CS + 30%CPS	85 0.25±0.02	0.19 0.	28 2.04±0.18
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	80%MS + $20%$ CPS	85 0.26±0.02	0.20 0.	29 1.89±0.28
	65%CS+35%CRS	85 0.18±0.02	0.13 0.	21 3.17±0.26
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	65%GS+35%CRF	85 0.16±0.02	0.13 0.	20 2.71±0.23
$ \begin{array}{c} (unpublished) & bulls/12-16 months \\ \textbf{ID#12} & CH/young bulls/11-14 months & 21 & 2 & 55%CS+45%CRPS & 104 \\ (unpublished) & CH/young bulls/11-14 months & 21 & 2 & 55%CS+45%CRPS^{5} & 104 \\ (unpublished) & ANGx, & L/Mx/steers/14-16 & 31 & 2 & 55%GS+45%CRS^{5} & 56 \\ (unpublished) & months & 759 & 34 & 55\%GS+45\%CRS^{5} & 56 \\ \textbf{TOTAL} & \textbf{TOTAL} & \textbf{Totrac} & \textbf{Totrac}$	65%GS+35CRF	112 0.15±0.02	0.09	19 2.87±0.25
ID#1255%CS + 45%CRPS104(unpublished)21255%CS + 45%CRPS104(unpublished)2255%CS + 45%CRPS104(unpublished)255%GS + 45%CRSS56(unpublished)31255%GS + 45%CRS56(unpublished)3355%GS + 45%CRSS56TOTAL75934136±7* Two dets because even if diet formulation was similar the experiment was conducted in two different years; ⁵ Same diet with an experimental even in the even				
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	55%CS + 45%CRPS	104 0.20 ± 0.02	0.16 0.	1.97 ± 0.17
ID#13 ANGx, LIMx/steers/14-16 31 2 55%GS+45%CRS 56 (unpublished) months 33 55%GS+45%CRS ⁵ 56 TOTAL 759 34 136±1 * Two dists because even if diet formulation was similar the experiment was conducted in two different years; ⁵ Same diet with an experimental complete of the elunotherabourse refers theorie in a similar the experiment was conducted in two different years; ⁵ Same diet with an experimental complete of the elunotherabourse refers theorie in a similar the experimental complete of the elunotherabourse refers theorie in a similar the experiment was conducted in two different years; ⁵ Same diet with an experimental complete of the elunotherabourse refers theorie in a placema.	55%CS + 45%CRPS ^{\$}	104 0.20 ± 0.02	0.16 0.	25 2.08±0.21
(unpublished) months 33 55%GS+45%CRS ⁵ 56 TOTAL 759 34 136±7 * Two diets because even if diet formulation was similar the experiment was conducted in two different years; ^s Same diet with an experimental complete of the elementaneous extension in alcome.	55%GS+45%CRS	$56 0.14\pm0.02$	0.08 0.	20 3.25±0.43
TOTAL 759 34 136±7 * Two dicts because even if dict formulation was similar the experiment was conducted in two different years; ^s Same dict with an experimental complete the elementare extension of the extension of the elementare elementare extension of the elementare elementare extension of the elementare elementare elementare extension of the elementare	55%GS+45%CRS ^{\$}	56 0.15±0.02	0.11 0.	19 3.21±0.41
* Two diets because even if diet formulation was similar the experiment was conducted in two different years; ^s Same diet with an experimental	1	36±75 0.17±0.05	0.03 0.	29 3.13±0.80
commlad at the clamptarhouse rather than in nlasma	it years; ^{\$} Same diet with an experime	intal additive to be tested; ¹]	Natural ¹⁵ N abı	ndances were measured in muscle
auripoed at ure statignetineuros fature tuar in prastita ¹ ANG = Angus. CH= Charolais. LIM = Limousin. LU = Luing. MO = Montbeliard. SAL = Salers. SIM = Simmental. ANGx = crossed with .	M = Simmental. ANGx = crossed y	vith Angus. CHx = crossed	with Charolai	. LIMx = crossed with Limousin.
SIMx = crossed with Simmental; ² Average interval age between the beginning and the end of the feed efficiency test; ³ GS: mostly grass silage;	l efficiency test; ³ GS: mostly grass sil	age; CS: mostly corn silage	, MS = mixed	grass, Luzerne, beet pulp or corn)
silage, CRS= concentrate rich in starch; CRSF = concentrate rich in starch and fat; CRF = concentrate rich in fiber; CRPS = concentrate rich	ate rich in fiber, CRPS = concentrat	e rich in protein and starch;	Lip = oil supt	lement; Nit = nitrate supplement;
LipNit = Oil and nitrate supplement; CFLP = concentrate rich in fiber and low in protein, CFHP = concentrate rich in fiber and high in protei			-	

Cross-bred represented 40% of total observations and were based mostly on crosses from Angus, Charolais, Simmental and Limousin (Table 1). A large variety of dietary treatments were included in the database, with almost half of the diets being rich in grass silage (≥50%DM). A description of the experimental studies, dietary treatments and animal breeds, used in our database is presented in Table 1.

Feed efficiency calculations

Two different feed efficiency traits were used in this study. Feed conversion efficiency was calculated for each animal within-study as the ratio between average daily gain (**ADG**) and daily dry matter intake (**DMI**), both individually measured for the same period in all trials. Technology for measuring the individual daily DMI varied across studies, with individual Calan gate feeders (American Calan Inc., Northwood, NH) used in study ID#1, Insentec electronic feeders (Insentec BV, Marknesse, The Netherlands) in studies ID#4, ID#5, ID#8, ID#9 and ID#13, electronic dairy gates (Dairy gate, I.F.E.I.,Villeroy, France) in studies ID#2, ID#3, ID#7 and automatic intake recoding systems based on mangers placed on weigh cells (Biocontrol, Rakkestad, Norway) in studies ID#6, ID#10, ID#11, ID#12. For each study, the ADG of each animal was calculated as the slope of the regression of body weight on time, with body weight recording conducted every week, fortnightly or twice per month depending on the study. Residual feed intake (RFI) was calculated from the whole database as the difference between observed and predicted dry matter intake within-contemporary group (**CG**), the latter defined as the group of animals from the same study, fed the same diet and sharing the same pen (n_contemporary group = 58). The number of animals per CG averaged 13 ranging from 5 (ID#2) to 34 (ID#3). For the RFI model, observed DMI was predicted from the CG effect, average daily gain (ADG) and mean metabolic body weight (mBW^{0.75}), the latter calculated at the middle of the feed efficiency test. The RFI model was as follows:

 $Y_{ij} = \beta_0 + CG + \beta I (mBW^{0.75}) + \beta 2 (ADG) + \varepsilon_{ij}$

where Y_{ij} is the observed individual daily DMI, β_0 is the intercept, CG corresponds to the contemporary group effect, βI is the regression coefficient for mBW^{0.75}, $\beta 2$ is the regression coefficient for ADG, and ε_{ij} is the residual of the model, defined as RFI.

The predictors of the RFI model (CG, ADG, mBW^{0.75}) explained 90% of the observed DMI variation. Forty-two percent of the observed DMI variation within-CG was explained by animal performance (ADG, mBW^{0.75}), while the rest was imputed to RFI.

Laboratory analyses

Natural ¹⁵N abundances (δ^{15} N) in plasma and feed samples from all unpublished trials (n_indiv = 285) were analyzed using an isotope-ratio mass spectrometer (Isoprime Vision; Elementar France) coupled to an elemental analyzer (Vario cube; Elementar France). Analyses were performed in the same laboratory at INRAE (<u>https://www6.clermont.inrae.fr/plateforme_exploration_metabolisme</u>). For plasma preparation, 10 µL were pipetted into a small tin capsule, evaporated at room temperature for 24h and then the capsule closed before being loaded in the analyzer. Each plasma sample was analyzed in duplicate.

For dried and ground feed or TMR samples, between 2 and 12 mg were weighted (relative to their N content) and always analyzed in triplicate. Freeze dried muscle samples from #ID8 were analyzed by EA-irms in the stable isotope laboratory of the institute of Agricultural Science in Zurich, Switzerland (<u>https://gl.ethz.ch/infrastructure/isolab.html</u>). Individual isotopic data from published trials (ID#1 to ID#7) were recovered and included in the database.

In-house standards (glutamic acid or tyrosine) were included in each run every 10 samples to correct for possible time-variations in the analysis. Results were expressed using the delta notation according to the following equation:

$$\delta^{15}N = [(R_{sample} / R_{standard}) - 1] \times 1000,$$

where R_{sample} is the N isotope ratio between the heavier isotope and the lighter isotope (¹⁵N /¹⁴N) for the sample being analyzed, $R_{standard}$ the N isotope ratio of the internationally defined standard (atmospheric N₂, $R_{standard}$ = 0.0036765), and δ is the delta notation in parts per 1000 (‰) relative to the standard. Samples were analyzed in duplicate and measurement errors for δ^{15} N analyzed in the in-house standards were always <1.1%CV (intra-assay). Nitrogen isotopic discrimination was calculated as the difference between δ^{15} N in plasma or muscle and that measured in the corresponding diet, the latter calculated by weighting the contribution of each ingredient to total dietary N. Plasma urea concentration was analyzed in samples from both published (n_study = 6) and unpublished (n_study = 5) trials in the same laboratory at INRAE through a spectrophotometric assay as described in Jorge-Smeding et al. (2021). No plasma samples were available from study #ID8 to conduct urea analysis.

Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using the R software (R core team, 2019). Two different approaches were explored for assessing the ability of the tested biomarkers to reflect the between-animal variability in feed efficiency as previously reported (Cantalapiedra-Hijar et al., 2018a). For both approaches we defined the between-animal variability as the variability observed within-CG, even though it is known to include a non-negligible and inherent part of experimental error. The two tested approaches aimed to either consider the between-CG variability in the model construction (mixed-effect model approach) or remove it before conducting simple regression analysis between feed efficiency traits and tested biomarkers (approach based on residuals).

Analysis of the relationship between feed conversion efficiency and either N isotopic fractionation or plasma urea

Simple and mixed effect models

As a first approach, both simple and mixed-effect models were tested to assess how well $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ and plasma urea correlated with FCE at the dietary treatment and individual levels. Thus, two different datasets were used in this analysis, the first containing dietary mean values for both variables and allowing us to strictly test treatment effects (i.e. diets and production context) and the second with all individual observations allowing us to assess between-animal variability (i.e within-CG relationship). For simple linear regression analysis, the Im function of R software was used while the nlme package of R (Pinheiro and Bates, 2000) was chosen for modeling the mixed-effect regression equations used. Models were built as follows:

Simple model: $Y_{ij} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_{ij} + \varepsilon_{ij}$,

Mixed-effect models: $Y_{ij} = (\beta_0 + b_{0i}) + (\beta_1 + b_{1i})X_{ij} + \varepsilon_{ij}$

where Y_{ij} is FCE and X_{ij} are values for either $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ or plasma urea concentration, β_0 and β_1 are the fixed effects for the intercept and the slope, respectively; the b_i are the random-effects of experimental factors (effect of either study alone, dietary treatment within-study or pen within- study [CG]) and assumed to be independent for different factors; and ε_{ij} , are the identically distributed within-groups errors, assumed to be independent of the random effects for the mixed-effect models.

Different random structures (from simple to more complex models), were compared based on the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC; the lowest being best) and the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC; the lowest being best). The random effects were tested on the intercept, slope or both. When information criterion statistics (AIC, BIC) were similar for two models, the log-likelihood ratio test criteria performed with the command ANOVA (model 0, model 1) in R was used to determine the best model. Random-effect structures were always compared (AIC, BIC) using the restricted-maximum likelihood method. Because the model accuracy depends on both the prediction model error (root mean square error of prediction; RMSEP) and the magnitude of the variability to be predicted, we extended the evaluation to other statistical criteria. Indeed, we calculated the ratio of RMSEP to the standard deviation of observations from the whole database (RSR global) or within-condition (RSR condition) to evaluate and compare models. The models were judged to be satisfactory if RSR \leq 0.70 (Moriasi et al., 2007). The RMSEP from simple and mixed-effect model were obtained by using the chillR package in R while the RSR used the MuMIn package in R.

To test the effect of the breed on the explored relationship, a sub-dataset was created from those studies including at the same time early or intermediate vs late maturing breeds (ID#4, ID#5, ID#9, ID#11 and ID#13; n = 312). Animals were coded either as "Late" if the breed was a late-maturing pure or cross-bred, or alternatively "Early" (including breeds and cross-bred animals considered as early or intermediate maturing

breeds). The breed (Early vs Late) was included in the model as a fixed effect on the intercept and slope (biomarker × breed interaction) while the study and diet were considered as random.

Simple regression analysis after removing the between-CG variability

We regressed either RFI, or alternatively the between-animal variation in FCE, on the between-animal variation of both tested biomarkers regardless of the influences of experimental factors. The between-animal variability in FCE, $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ and plasma urea concentration was assessed once the random effect of CG was removed from raw values.

 $Y_{ij} = \beta_0 + CG + \varepsilon_{ij}$

where Y_{ij} is either the observed FCE or $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ or plasma urea concentration, β_{θ} is the intercept, *CG* corresponds to the contemporary group effect, and ε_{ij} is the residual of the model reflecting the betweenanimal variation of FCE, $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ or plasma urea concentration.

This step was skipped for RFI, since it was by definition already free of the CG effect (i.e. model residuals are uncorrelated with any predictor included in the model [CG, ADG, mBW^{0.75}]). The resulting residuals were considered mainly due to the between-animal variation and unidentified sources of error (within-animal variation). If a relationship between RFI or FCE and the tested biomarkers was still significant once the raw values were corrected for effects of experimental factors, the ability of the biomarkers to capture between-animal variation of feed efficiency could be assessed.

Analysis of variance when selecting extreme animals in terms of feed efficiency

To further explore the ability of each biomarker to identify individual variability in feed efficiency, we selected the 20% most and 20% least efficient cattle in terms of either within-CG FCE values or RFI. A simple one-way ANOVA was then conducted to test whether the biomarkers values differed across these two contrasting groups of animals. Significant differences were set at P<0.05.

Combining biomarkers and growth performance data for feed efficiency prediction

Biomarkers and growth performance data were used in multiple regression analysis (Im function in the R software) to assess if their combination could strengthen the prediction of between-animal variation in feed efficiency. Variance inflation factor was obtained (car library in the R software) to evaluate the amount of multicollinearity among the independent variables included in multiple regression ($\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$, plasma urea concentration and ADG [only for FCE]).

Results

Relationship between feed conversion efficiency and either N isotopic fractionation or plasma urea concentration

Simple and mixed-effect models

The overall negative correlation between FCE and $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ across studies was moderate to high and regardless of using individual (r = -0.69, P<0.001; Figure 1A) or treatment mean values (r = -0.62, P<0.001; Figure 1C). However, a few within-diet relationships (Figure 1E) were not negative (3 out of 34) and only less than half (16 out 34) showed a significant negative relationship (P<0.05). Concerning plasma urea concentration, a low but still significant negative correlation was observed with FCE across studies by using both individual (r = -0.36, P<0.001; Figure 1B) or mean treatment values (r = 0.39, P = 0.04; Figure 1D). However, this same relationship evaluated within- treatment (Figure 1E), revealed that only 3 out of 28 responses were significantly negative (P<0.05) and 7 out of 28 showed a non-significant positive correlation.



Peer Community Journal, Vol. 2 (2022), article e31

whereas only 3 out of 28 were significant for plasma urea concentration (P<0.05; 1F).

Table 2 presents the simple and mixed-effect regression models of FCE on either $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ or plasma urea concentration. Concerning the N isotopic fractionation, all tested models (Eq. 1-5) showed a significant and negative response (slope) of FCE to the $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ variation, but with different prediction errors and ability to identify the observed variability. Simple linear models had higher prediction errors (RMSEP) when based on individual observations (0.037 kg/kg) compared to treatment means (0.027 kg/kg). However, the model prediction error obtained from individual observations represented a lower proportion of the total observed FCE variability (RSR global = 0.727) compared to that based on treatment means (RSR global = 0.768). When using individual data, it was observed that $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ was able to identify FCE variability once the experiment (Eq. 3), dietary treatment within-experiment (Eq. 4) or CG (Eq. 5) effects were removed from the relationship. However, no gain in model performance was observed when the pen effect, included in the CG, was added to the model beyond the study and treatment effect (Eq. 5 vs 4). In our conditions, models to predict FCE within-treatment or within-CG from $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ were thus similar. The model prediction error of mixed-effect models, as well as its contribution to explain the observed total FCE variability (RSR global) was halved in comparison to simple models (Eq. 2 vs Eq. 3-5; Table 2). However, because the observed FCE variability logically decreases when shifting from a global to a within-condition level (i.e. when the variability from experimental factors is present or excluded, respectively), the lower prediction error obtained with the best mixed-effect model (0.016 kg/kg) did not translate to a greater ability to identify the observed FCE variability within that particular condition (RSR condition = 0.846). Based on a cut-off of <0.70 for RSR, optimal models for predicting total FCE variability were only those based on mixed-effect models from individual observations (Eq. 3-5). However, these same models had RSR condition > 0.70, meaning that they are not completely optimal for discriminating individuals reared in similar conditions (within-study, withintreatment or within-CG) but could rather be used to predict differences in animal FCE across-studies.

Models based on $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ were always better in terms of RMSE, AIC/BIC and RSR than those based on plasma urea concentration. Although the response of FCE to plasma urea concentration was significant across studies for dietary treatment means or individual observations (Eq. 6-7), there was no significant relationships within-study (Eq. 8). Surprisingly, very weak but still significant relationships were found between FCE and plasma urea concentration within-treatment (Eq. 9) and within-CG (Eq. 10). Likewise, for $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$, no gain in model performance was found when adding the pen in addition to treatment effects. When breeds were categorized as early vs late maturing breeds from a sub-dataset, it was observed that the slope of the best model to predict FCE from $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ (Eq. 4) tended to be higher (+0.005; P = 0.06) in Late vs Early maturing breeds while similar (P = 0.53) in the best prediction model from plasma urea.

Graphic presentation (Figure 2 and 3) of the best models for $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ (Eq. 4; Table 2) and plasma urea concentration (Eq. 9, Table 2) did not reveal major violations for the assumptions of normality, homoscedasticity and independence.

Linear models and Anova after removing the between-CG variability

When the between-CG effect (pen within treatment and study) was removed from both feed efficiency and biomarker values, the relationship between feed efficiency traits (FCE or RFI) and either $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ or plasma urea concentration was always significant (*P*<0.01) but with different fits depending on the trait and biomarker (Figure 4).

Table 2. Simple linear and mixed-effect regree using either dietary treatment means or indiv	ssion models of idual observati	 feed conversion e ons from different 	efficiency on the N fattening cattle p	l isotopic fr. roduction s	actionation (Δ ystems	¹⁵ N _{animal-diet}) or p	lasma ur	ea concen	itration
	Equation				RSR	RSR			
ltem		Intercept	Slope	RMSEP ¹	global ²	condition ³	\mathbb{R}^2	AIC ⁴	BIC ⁴
0 ¹⁵ Nanimal-diet, ‰									
Treatment means, n = 34									
Simple linear model	1	$0.283^{*}\pm 0.023$	$-0.032^{**} \pm 0.007$	0.027	0.768		0.39	-126	-122
Individual observations, n = 749									
Simple linear model	2	$0.310^{*}\pm 0.005$	$-0.043^{**} \pm 0.002$	0.037	0.727		0.47	-2789	-2775
Mixed-effect models									
Study random effect	£	0.273**±0.020	$-0.032^{**} \pm 0.005$	0.018	0.363	0.882	0.31	-3788	-3760
Treatment within study random effect ^{\$}	4	$0.277^{*}\pm 0.018$	$-0.033^{**} \pm 0.004$	0.016	0.325	0.846	0.33	-3826 ^{\$}	-3784 ^{\$}
Late vs Early maturing breeds [#]		+0.013±0.007 ^{NS}	-0.005 ⁺ ± 0.002						
Contemporary group random effect	ß	$0.277^{*}\pm 0.018$	$-0.033^{**} \pm 0.004$	0.016	0.323	0.840	0.33	-3820	-3779
Plasma urea, g/L									
Treatment means, n = 28									
Simple linear model	9	0.224**± 0.025	$-0.304^{*} \pm 0.150$	0.033	0.912		0.15	-95.0	-91.2
Individual observations, n = 659									
Simple linear model	7	$0.218^{*}\pm 0.005$	$-0.301^{*} \pm 0.031$	0.048	0.935		0.13	-2101	-2088
Mixed-effect models									
Study random effect	∞	$0.176^{*}\pm 0.010$	$-0.019^{NS} \pm 0.028$	0.021	0.406	0.982	0.00	-3114	-3087
Treatment within study random effect ^s	6	$0.188^{*\pm} 0.007$	-0.066* ± 0.026	0.019	0.374	0.969	0.01	-3140 ^{\$}	-3112 ^{\$}
Late vs Early maturing breeds		+0.003±0.005 ^{NS}	$-0.019^{NS} \pm 0.002$						
Contemporary group random effect	10	$0.193^{*}\pm 0.007$	$0.059^* \pm 0.026$	0.019	0.369	0.956	0.01	-3073	-3046
1RMSEP = residual mean square error of prediction w בסבט היסובי הייניסי איז איז איז איז איז איז איז איז איז אי	then comparing of	served and predicted	l values (package chil	llR in R) observed in t	ho whole datase	+ Lacrocc-ctudy vari	T (vrilide	od+ rowol or	hattor
³ RSR condition = Ratio of the RMSEP (model predictio	on error) to the stand	andard deviation of fe	sed conversion efficie	ency observe	d either within-s	tudy, or within-die	t and stud	y or within-	CG. The
-				-					

lower the better

⁴AIC = Akaike information criterion (the lower the better); BIC = Bayesian information criterion (the lower the better)

^{\$}Best random structure model based on AIC/BIC criteria and the log-likelihood ratio test (P < 0.05).

^{NS} Non significant (P>0.05); $^{**}P \leq 0.001$; $^*P \leq 0.05$; $^{\dagger}P \leq 0.10$.

https://doi.org/10.24072/pcjournal.130

#From a sub-dataset containing 312 observations from studies including both early or intermediate and late maturing breeds

Homoscedasticity

Residuals vs fitted





Peer Community Journal, Vol. 2 (2022), article e31



Figure 4. Relationships between feed efficiency traits (feed conversion efficiency; FCE [4A, 4C] and residual feed intake, RFI [4B, 4D]) and either N isotopic fractionation ($\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$, ‰) or plasma urea concentration (g/L) in fattening beef cattle when variability across contemporary groups was previously removed (within-CG variability analysis). Equations (intercept not different from 0): (4A) Y = -0.034X (n = 749; r = -0.50; *P*<0.001); (4B): Y = -0.077X (n = 659; r = -0.15; *P*<0.001); (4C) Y = 0.50X (n = 748; r = 0.23; *P*<0.001); (4D): Y = 1.93X (n = 659; r = 0.11; *P*=0.003).

On average, greater model fits were achieved with $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ compared to plasma urea and for FCE than for RFI. From higher to lower model fits were the regressions of FCE on $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ (r = -0.50; *P*<0.001, Figure 4A), RFI on $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ (r = 0.23; *P*<0.001, Figure 4C), FCE on plasma urea (r = -0.15; *P*<0.001, Figure 4B) and RFI on plasma urea (r = 0.11; *P*=0.003, Figure 4D). Although the two tested biomarkers were significantly correlated to feed efficiency traits at the individual level when using the whole dataset (Figure 4), their ability to discriminate the top 20% highest and lowest individuals within-CG in terms of feed efficiency varied (Figure 5). Indeed, both $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ and plasma urea concentration succeeded to discriminate the most extreme animals within-CG in terms of FCE (Figure 5A and 5B; P<0.001 and P=0.002), but only $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ was significantly different (P<0.001) for extreme RFI animals (Figure 5C).

Combining performance and biomarkers to predict between-animal variability in feed efficiency

The within-CG variability of ADG itself explained 39% of the within-CG variability in FCE (Table 3). None of the tested biomarkers explained as much of the between-animal variability in FCE as ADG (25% and 2% for $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ and plasma urea, respectively). However, the combination of ADG and $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ increased the explanation of FCE variability up to 51% with no further gain when adding plasma urea as a third variable. For RFI, the variance explained by both biomarkers was very low (5% and 1% for $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ and plasma urea, respectively) and the apparent slight gain when plasma urea was combined with $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ (6%) was not significant (*P* = 0.06).



Figure 5. Within contemporary group values for N isotopic fractionation (Δ^{15} N) and plasma urea concentration in the top 20% higher and lower efficient animals within contemporary group according to feed conversion efficiency (on the left; 5A and 5B) or residual feed intake (on the right; 5C and 5D).

Table 3. Simple and multiple linear regression for predicting within-contemporary group variability in feed conversion efficiency (FCE) and residual feed intake (RFI) from N isotopic fractionation ($\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$), plasma urea concentration (PU) and average daily gain (ADG) in fattening cattle¹

					P-value		
FCE	n	R ²	RSE ²	ADG	$\Delta^{15}N$	PU	VIF ³
ADG	749	0.39	0.015	< 0.001			
$\Delta^{15} N_{animal-diet}$	749	0.25	0.017		< 0.001		
Plasma urea	659	0.02	0.020			<0.001	
ADG + Δ^{15} Nanimal-diet	749	0.51	0.013	<0.001	< 0.001		1.04
$\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ + Plasma urea	659	0.25	0.017	<0.001		0.06	1.03
ADG + Δ^{15} N _{animal-diet} + Plasma urea	659	0.51	0.014	<0.001	< 0.001	0.07	1.03-1.09
RFI ³							
$\Delta^{15} N_{animal-diet}$	749	0.05	0.60				
					< 0.001		
Plasma urea	659	0.01	0.64			0.003	
$\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ + Plasma urea	659	0.06	0.63		<0.001	0.06	1.03
				c	/		

¹The contemporary group effect was removed from all tested variables before analysis (excepting RFI already corrected) ²RSE = residual standard error

²ADG was not tested on RFI prediction since already included in the RFI calculation model

³ Variance inflation factor (car library in R) measuring the amount of multicollinearity among the independent variables in a multiple regression model. Values higher than 5 may indicate multicollinearity.

Discussion

Exploring easy-to-use biomarkers enabling the identification and selection of superior animals in terms of feed efficiency is the first step towards assisting genetic selection and precision feeding through

biomarkers. Our findings confirm that N isotopic fractionation, a biomarker of NUE (Cantalapiedra-Hijar et al., 2018a), may explain between-animal variability in FCE and RFI to a greater extent than plasma urea concentration. Our results support the conclusions recently obtained by Guarnido-Lopez et al. (2021) about the potential of natural ¹⁵N abundances in contrast to plasma urea, to predict at the individual level feed efficiency variability in young bulls reared in similar conditions. Furthermore, our results were obtained from more diverse cattle production systems across Europe, using different diets and breeds, which reinforces its potential to be applied in commercial farms. In addition, because our ¹⁵N natural abundance in animal proteins were corrected by the isotopic signatures of the corresponding diets, unlike in our previous study (Guarnido-Lopez et al., 2021), we proved that $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ may also reflect the FCE changes promoted by diets and thus serving to compare farms with different production conditions or to rank different dietary strategies in terms of FCE.

The ability of N isotopic fractionation vs plasma urea to reflect dietary treatment and between-animal variation in feed efficiency

From a theoretical point of view, individuals that better transform feed intake into growth should also present higher NUE (i.e. N retention to N intake ratio) compared to those with lesser feed efficiency. This is because on one hand, DM intake and N intake correlate positively at the individual level even if feed sorting occurs (Dykier et al., 2020). On the other hand, BW gain and N retention are highly correlated since protein and the associated water retention may account for 55-75% of the BW gain in growing-fattening cattle (estimations from values reported in Geay, 1984 and Cantalapiedra-Hijar et al., 2020a). The theoretical association between feed efficiency and NUE has been empirically confirmed in dairy cows with contrasted RFI values (Liu and VandeHaar, 2020) and in beef cattle ranked according to FCE (Nasrollahi et al., 2020). Thus, it can be reasonably argued that biomarkers of NUE could equally work for identifying feed efficiency variation in cattle. In this regard, we tested two proposed NUE biomarkers for ruminants: N isotopic fractionation ($\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$; Cantalapiedra-Hijar et al., 2018a) and blood plasma urea (Kohn et al., 2005). Our results showed that while both biomarkers could reflect FCE variation across different diets or production conditions, only $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ seemed adapted to identify between-animal variability of FCE and, to a lesser extent, RFI variation.

According to the model performances obtained when using treatment mean values, our results indicated that $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ and plasma urea concentration could significantly distinguish two dietary treatments or production conditions (farms or studies) in terms of FCE if they differ by more than 0.10 kg/kg and 0.13 kg/kg, respectively (±1.96 × RMSEP at the 95% CI). This means for instance that the mean FCE obtained in the only trial conducted with growing heifers in our dataset (ID#1; mean FCE = 0.09; mean $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet} = 4.24\%$) can be significantly discriminated at 95%CI from that observed in several other studies (ID#2, ID#3, ID#7, ID#8, ID#9 and ID#12; mean FCE = 0.21 kg/kg; mean Δ^{15} N_{animal-diet} = 2.76‰) when using $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ (Table 1). Likewise, the production context promoting the highest FCE in young bulls in our dataset (#ID9; mean FCE = 0.26 kg/kg; mean $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ = 1.95‰; mean ADG = 1.78kg/d) can be significantly discriminated from other trials using young bulls or steers (ID#4, ID#5, ID#11 and ID#13; mean FCE = 0.14 kg/kg; mean Δ^{15} N_{animal-diet} = 3.43%; mean ADG = 1.53 kg/d) in a situation where the mean ADG did not differ too much between these contrasted conditions (+16%) compared to FCE (+85%). As expected, the number of studies that can be significantly discriminated in terms of FCE when using plasma urea was much lower because of its higher interval prediction error (+30%). Although NUE and FCE usually change proportionally at the individual level, this may not always occur across diets. In this regard, FCE remained unchanged in some beef cattle experiments despite use of different dietary N levels (Cortese et al., 2019; Da Silva et al., 2016). Moreover, high- vs low-N diets have been associated with higher FCE in some beef cattle feeding trials (Gabler and Heinrichs, 2003; Meneces et al., 2016; Cantalapiedra-Hijar et al., 2020a) despite the fact they are expected to decrease NUE (INRA, 2018). This may impair the ability of NUE biomarkers to identify FCE variation across dietary treatments if an excess or shortage of dietary protein supply in relation to requirements does not translate into feed efficiency variation or if it translates into an opposite trend (i.e. high FE-low NUE, low FE-high NUE). This is clearly illustrated in the trial conducted by Gabler and Heinrich (2003) with growing heifers where diets containing almost 20% CP promoted significantly higher FCE (0.23 kg/kg vs 0.21 kg/kg) but also higher plasma urea-N concentration (16.6 mg/dL vs 9.88 mg/dL) compared to diets containing 12% CP. The relationship between plasma urea concentration and FCE would be thus positive in that example (Gabler and Heinrich, 2003) rather than negative as we

have observed on average in our study (Figure 1D). The same holds true for $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$. Indeed, in one of the studies included in the present meta-analysis (#ID7; Cantalapiedra-Hijar et, 2020a) beef cattle fed diets formulated at 20% above protein requirement promoted on average higher FCE (0.198 kg/kg vs 0.186 kg/kg) but lower NUE (0.209 kg/kg vs 0.241 kg/kg) compared to diets formulated to meet protein requirements. On average, $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ values in that study were in consequence higher with diets promoting greater FCE (2.80‰ vs 2.61‰), a positive relationship not observed on average across studies in the present work (Figure 1C).

Regarding the models based on individual observations, errors to predict FCE variations from $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ or plasma urea (Eq. 4 and 9; Table 2) were compatible with significantly discriminating two individuals within-CG provided that their FCE differ by at least 0.06kg/kg and 0.08 kg/kg (±1.96 × RMSEP at the 95% confidence level), respectively. This minimal significant difference was only observed within-CG for about 11 and 6% of animals, respectively. These results are in close agreement with the conclusion obtained by Guarnido-Lopez et al. (2021) in young Charolais bulls reared in similar conditions, where the minimal difference needed for $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ to significantly discriminate two individuals from the same CG was established at 0.05 kg/kg of FCE. According to Moriasi et al. (2007), a model can be judged to perform satisfactorily when the error represents less than 70% of the total observed variability (i.e. RSR<0.7). Only the mixed-effect models (vs. simple models) had RSR lower than this threshold, and thus they could be considered as optimal models to discriminate individuals reared under different production conditions on the basis of their FCE. However, if the aim is to compare individuals reared in the same conditions (e.g. within-CG), model performance in terms of RSR suggested that $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ and plasma urea were not completely suitable to identify between-animal variability in FCE at the individual level (RSR condition >0.70 in Eq. 4 and Eq. 9). It is important to note that the model error inherently includes also the accumulation of errors from DMI and ADG measurements, the two pieces of information needed to calculate feed efficiency. To the best of our knowledge no measurement errors for ADG or FCE has been previously reported, but given the poor repeatability of these measurements in growing beef cattle (Kelly et al., 2010) it is expected that errors will be high compared to observed animal variance. Thus, the obtained prediction error from the present meta-analysis is expected to be highly influenced by the measurement errors associated to FCE and not only to the biomarker's inaccuracy. Further studies are needed to develop similar prediction models in very controlled experiments aiming at reducing as much as possible the source of error associated with FCE measurements. Although we did not reveal any relationship between the length of the feed efficiency test (from 56 to 259 days) and the correlation between biomarkers and feed efficiency (data not shown), the frequency of BW recording might have contributed to strengthen that correlation. As an example, the second highest correlation between FCE and $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ was found (r = -0.66 within-CG) in the only experiment where BW was recorded every week (#ID13) rather than fortnightly or every 4 weeks (average r =-0.50 within-CG; Figure 4). Increasing the frequency for BW records has been demonstrated to improve the accuracy of feed efficiency measurements, especially in those tests using shorter durations (Archer et al., 1997). Interestingly, Archer et al. (1997) indicated that the accuracy of feed efficiency measurements could be mainly determined by accurate ADG measurements rather than intake. We hypothesize that the remaining high error for predicting FCE at the individual level with the tested biomarkers might be, above all, a consequence of the high measurement errors associated with BW gain measurements.

Our results indicate however that $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ is still a powerful biomarker for discriminating a group of extreme animals in terms of FCE or RFI when comparing the 20% highest and lowest efficient animals within-CG (Figure 5A and 5C). This finding suggests that $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ (and to a much lesser extent plasma urea) could be used within a herd to form groups of animals for precision feeding strategies, in such a way that the highest and lowest individuals in terms of $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ could be assigned to receive diets with, for example, lower and higher CP content, respectively. In this regard, economic and environmental simulations in pigs genetically divergent for RFI demonstrated that high and low CP diets were more suitable for efficient and inefficient animals, respectively, than a common standard CP diet (Soleimani et al., 2021). Alternatively, the group of animals with the highest $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ values (i.e. higher likelihood to have high RFI values) could be assigned to a precision feed restriction (Meir et al., 2019; Fischer et al., 2020) or to diets with a higher forage to concentrate ratio (Meir et al., 2021). These two promising dietary interventions are expected to lower feed N intake (compared to ad-libitum feeding or diets with lower forage to concentrate ratio) and have been proven to improve feed efficiency of dairy cows previously

ranked as RFI inefficient (Fischer et al., 2020; Meir et al., 2021). For precision feeding purposes further studies should evaluate first whether $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ measured before weaning are correlated with differences in performance measured post-weaning, so as to serve as an early indicator of what kind of diets will match better (e.g. different N levels) with the post-weaning potential of animals.

The superior ability of $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ vs plasma urea concentration to identify between-animal variability in feed efficiency (FCE and RFI) has been extensively discussed by Guarnido-Lopez et al. (2021). Advantages of $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ vs plasma urea would include: i) the stability in daily values irrespective of the sampling time (i.e. no postprandial changes because of a relatively slow turnover rate), ii) little or no modifications by renal urea reabsorption or clearance rate and iii) its potential ability to also capture modifications in the rate at which tissue proteins are renewed (Remien, 2015), a true determinant of between-animal variation in feed efficiency (Cantalapiedra-Hijar et al., 2018b). Among its drawbacks it can be cited that: i) diet composition should be stable across a relatively long duration (i.e. FCE becomes unpredictable when diet composition changes), ii) the analysis by EA-irms is relatively time consuming (\approx 25 samples/day in duplicate) and expensive (\approx 15.00 €/sample in duplicate in France) and iii) representative samples of diets should be collected and analyzed if different feeding conditions or farms are being compared. A recent study found that rapid analysis by near-infrared reflectance spectroscopy may estimate N isotope composition in animal tissues with a relatively high accuracy (Ancin-Murguzur et al., 2021) opening the door to more throughput and cheap methods for predicting feed efficiency from equations herein proposed.

Interestingly, the response of FCE to $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ variation at the individual level was almost identical with mixed effect models and simple regression based on residual (slope of -0.033 kg/kg [eq. 4; Table 2] and -0.034 kg/kg [Figure 4A]) and very close to the response of NUE to $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ variations previously found by meta-analysis (-0.035 kg/kg; Cantalapiedra-Hijar et al., 2018a). Although caution is needed comparing different databases and studies, this could mean that on average both traits, FCE and NUE, are highly correlated at the individual level and so that one unit of change in Δ^{15} N_{animal-diet} is on average associated to similar changes in FCE or NUE (around 0.035 kg/kg). Given that Charolais, a late-maturing and lean breed, was the most representative breed in our database it can be expected that a change in body protein retention had a strong and proportional increase in body weight gain, explaining in part the proportionality between FCE and NUE changes at the individual level. This finding is supported by several previous studies showing that on average changes in FCE at the individual level followed proportionally those of NUE in fattening young Charolais bulls (Cantalapiedra-Hijar et al., 2015; Nasrollahi et al., 2020). For early-maturing breeds, where the contribution of fat deposition to body weight gain is higher, a measurement of the fat accretion assessed by ultrasound echography has been proven to provide additional strength to the relationship between FCE and $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ (Meale et al., 2018). In this regard, when we attempted to evaluate the effect of the breed on the explored relationships it was observed that the response of FCE to changes in $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ values tended to be greater in late vs early or intermediate maturing breeds. This finding would support the close link existing between $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ and protein deposition in ruminants and the weaknesses that this biomarker could have to predict feed efficiency in slow growing animals or in animals retaining proportionally a greater amount of fat instead of protein. Further studies should confirm if different predictions models are needed for early vs late-maturing breeds.

Combining both biomarkers and growth data to strengthen feed efficiency predictions

The rationale for combining performance data (ADG), plasma urea and $\Delta^{15}N$ was the fact that each may relate to feed efficiency through common (moderate correlation between ADG and $\Delta^{15}N$; Figure 6) but also specific mechanisms. Adding different independent sources of variation could strengthen the prediction of the trait of interest (Negussie et al., 2017). Growth rate (ADG) is the single most important trait correlated with FCE as opposed to feed intake showing inconsistent relationships from one study to another (Arthur and Herd, 2012). Average daily gain is classically used by farmers and advisers as a proxy for animal feed efficiency when feed intake records are not available at the individual level on farm. In our conditions, ADG explained 39% of the total FCE variability within-CG, which was much higher than the percentage explained by any of the two tested biomarkers. Although our results might be interpreted as to better invest in BW recording systems on farm than in the analysis of these two biomarkers for phenotyping FCE, it must be remembered that biomarkers greatly reduce the time and cost to have an accurate estimate of traits.



Peer Community Journal, Vol. 2 (2022), article e31

-egression using dietary treatment means (6C: ADG = 2.61 – 0.36 × Δ^{15} N [n = 34; r = -0.62; P<0.001]; 6D: DMI = 5.29 + 1.19 × Δ^{15} N [n = 34; r = 0.48; P=0.002]; (E-F)

Simple linear regression when variability across contemporary groups was previously removed (within-CG variability analysis). Equations (intercept not different

rom 0): (6E) Y = -0.17X (n = 749; r = 0.24; P<0.001); (6F) Y = 0.51X (n = 749; r = 0.17; P<0.001)

Rather, adding Δ^{15} N in addition to ADG will significantly improve FCE predictions (R² from 0.39 to 0.51) indicating an additive effect on predictions. For RFI, no performance data were combined with biomarkers because of the expected lack of phenotypic correlation between RFI and growth performance data. Although both biomarkers are significantly (but weakly) related to RFI values, their combination did not improve predictions of RFI. This was somewhat expected, since both biomarkers share common metabolic pathways and plasma urea concentration values barely correlate with RFI (Guarnido-Lopez et al., 2021). Further studies are needed to assess the gain in prediction when combining Δ^{15} N values (stable over time) to other promising RFI biomarkers related to amino acid (Karisa et al., 2014; Foroutan et al., 2020) or lipid metabolism (Goldansaz et al., 2020) and more subjected to postprandial fluctuations and day-to-day variation.

Conclusions

This study demonstrated that $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ can be proposed as a biomarker of feed efficiency to discriminate different production conditions or diets if they differ by at least 0.10 kg/kg of FCE. When the objective is to discriminate two animals from the same contemporary group $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ may succeed provided they differ by at least 0.06 kg/kg of FCE. This minimal detectable difference (0.06 kg/kg of FCE) across individuals represent a limitation to predict FCE at the individual level and calls into question its use as tool for breeding programmes. However, our results highlight that $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ can significantly discriminate groups of animals with contrasting FCE or RFI values (20% highest vs 20% lowest ranked animals). No gain in feed efficiency prediction was observed when combining both candidate biomarkers irrespective of the evaluated criteria. However, when ADG data was combined with $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ values, the prediction of FCE at the individual level was strengthened compared to using only one of them, in which case ADG was the best single predictor. Our findings confirm that $\Delta^{15}N_{animal-diet}$ is related to the betweenanimal variability of feed efficiency in growing cattle to a greater extent than plasma urea concentration and suggest that it may be useful to form groups of animals for precision feeding when information about intake and body weight gain is lacking. More studies are warranted however to evaluate the usefulness of these two biomarkers to assist the genetic selection and the gain in prediction accuracy obtainable by combining them with other promising biomarkers of feed efficiency.

Acknowledgements

A preprint version of this article has been reviewed and recommended by Peer Community In Animal Science (<u>https://doi.org/10.24072/pci.animsci.100012</u>). We thank Marine Gauthier and Isabelle Constant for their technical support for analysis of plasma urea concentration.

Data, scripts and codes availability

The datasets and scripts used in this study are available at Zenodo (<u>https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.5771504</u> and <u>https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.5771531</u>).

Conflict of interest disclosure

The authors of this preprint declare that they have no financial conflict of interest with the content of this article. G. Cantalapiedra-Hijar is PCI Animal Science recommender.

Funding

The SmartCow project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement N°730924.

References

- Ancin-Murguzur FJ et al. (2021). Using near-infrared reflectance spectroscopy (NIRS) to estimate carbon and nitrogen stable isotope composition in animal tissues. Ecol. Evol. 11:10483. https://doi: 10.1002/ece3.7851
- Archer JA et al. (1997). Optimum postweaning test for measurement of growth rate, feed intake, and feed efficiency in British breed cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 75: 2024-2032. https://doi.org/10.2527/1997.7582024x
- Arthur PF, Herd RM (2012). Genetic improvement of feed efficiency. In: R. A. Hill, editor, Feed efficiency in the beef industry, Wiley-Blackwell, Ames, IA, p. 93–103.
- Basarab JA et al. (2013). Reducing GHG emissions through genetic improvement for feed efficiency: effects on economically important traits and enteric methane production. Animal 7:303-315. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731113000888.
- Berry DP, Crowley JJ (2013). Cell biology symposium: genetics of feed efficiency in dairy and beef cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 91:1594-1613. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2012-5862
- Cantalapiedra-Hijar G et al. (2015). Diet–animal fractionation of nitrogen stable isotopes reflects the efficiency of nitrogen assimilation in ruminants. Br. J. Nutr. 113: 1158-1169. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114514004449.
- Cantalapiedra-Hijar G et al. (2016). Relationship between efficiency of nitrogen utilization and isotopic nitrogen fractionation in dairy cows: contribution of digestion v. metabolism? Animal 10: 221-229. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731115002025
- Cantalapiedra-Hijar G et al. (2018a). Nitrogen isotopic fractionation as a biomarker for nitrogen use efficiency in ruminants: a meta-analysis. Animal 12:1827-1837. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731117003391
- Cantalapiedra-Hijar G et al. (2018b). Biological determinants of between-animal variation in feed efficiency of growing beef cattle. Animal, 12:s321-s335. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731118001489
- Cantalapiedra-Hijar G et al. (2020a). Methionine-balanced diets improve cattle performance in fattening young bulls fed high-forage diets through changes in nitrogen metabolism. Br. J. Nutr. 124:273-285. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114520001154.
- Cantalapiedra-Hijar G et al. (2020b). Natural 15N abundance in specific amino acids indicates associations between transamination rates and residual feed intake in beef cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 98: skaa171. https://doi.org/10.1093/jas/skaa171
- Carmelo VA et al. (2020). Metabolomic networks and pathways associated with feed efficiency and related-traits in Duroc and Landrace pigs. Sci. Rep. 10:1-14. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-57182-4.
- Cortese MS et al. (2019). The effects of decreasing dietary crude protein on the growth performance, feed efficiency and meat quality of finishing charolais bulls. Animals 9:906. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9110906.
- Cruz GD et al. (2010). Performance, residual feed intake, digestibility, carcass traits, and profitability of Angus-Hereford steers housed in individual or group pens. J. Anim. Sci. 88:324-329. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2009-1932.
- Da Silva LD et al. (2016). Effects of silage crop and dietary crude protein levels on digestibility, ruminal fermentation, nitrogen use efficiency, and performance of finishing beef cattle. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 220:22-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2016.07.008.
- Dykier KC et al. (2020). Effects of finishing diet sorting and digestibility on performance and feed efficiency in beef steers. Animal 14:59-65. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731119001988.
- Fischer A et al. (2020). Precision feed restriction improves feed and milk efficiencies and reduces methane emissions of less efficient lactating Holstein cows without impairing their performance. J. Dairy Sci. 103:4408-4422. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2019-17654.
- Foroutan A et al. (2020). Serum metabolite biomarkers for predicting residual feed intake (RFI) of young Angus bulls. Metabolites 10:491. https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo10120491.
- Fuller BT et al. (2004). Nitrogen balance and δ15N: why you're not what you eat during pregnancy. Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 18:2889-2896. https://doi.org/10.1002/rcm.1708.
- Gabler MT, Heinrichs AJ (2003). Dietary protein to metabolizable energy ratios on feed efficiency and structural growth of prepubertal Holstein heifers. J. Dairy Sci. 86:268-274. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)73605-4.

- Gaye-Siessegger JU et al. (2004). Feeding level and individual metabolic rate affect δ13C and δ15N values in carp: implications for food web studies. Oecologia, 138:175-183. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-003-1429-7.
- Geay Y (1984). Energy and protein utilization in growing cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 58:766-778. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas1984.583766x.
- Goldansaz SA et al. (2020). Candidate serum metabolite biomarkers of residual feed intake and carcass merit in sheep. J. Anim. Sci. 98:skaa298. https://doi.org/10.1093/jas/skaa298.
- Guarnido-Lopez P et al. (2021). Plasma proteins δ 15N vs plasma urea as candidate biomarkers of betweenanimal variations of feed efficiency in beef cattle: Phenotypic and genetic evaluation. Animal 15:100318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.animal.2021.100318.
- INRA (2018). INRA feeding system for ruminants. Wageningen Academic Publishers, Wageningen, the Netherlands, p. 640.
- Jorge-Smeding E et al. (2021). Common and diet-specific metabolic pathways underlying residual feed intake in fattening Charolais yearling bulls. Sci. Rep. 11: 24346. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-03678-x
- Karisa BK et al. (2014). Plasma metabolites associated with residual feed intake and other productivity performance traits in beef cattle. Livest. Sci. 165:200-211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2014.03.002.
- Kelly AK et al. (2010). Repeatability of feed efficiency, carcass ultrasound, feeding behavior, and blood metabolic variables in finishing heifers divergently selected for residual feed intake. J. Anim. Sci. 88:3214-3225. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2009-2700.
- Kohn RA et al. (2005). Using blood urea nitrogen to predict nitrogen excretion and efficiency of nitrogen utilization in cattle, sheep, goats, horses, pigs, and rats. J. Anim. Sci. 83:879-889. https://doi.org/10.2527/2005.834879x.
- Liu E, VandeHaar MJ (2020). Relationship of residual feed intake and protein efficiency in lactating cows fed high-or low-protein diets. J. Dairy Sci. 103:3177-3190. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2019-17567.
- Meale SJ et al. (2018). Fat accretion measurements strengthen the relationship between feed conversion efficiency and nitrogen isotopic discrimination while rumen microbial genes contribute little. Sci. Rep. 8:3854. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-22103-4.
- Menezes AC et al. (2016). Does a reduction in dietary crude protein content affect performance, nutrient requirements, nitrogen losses, and methane emissions in finishing Nellore bulls? Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 223, 239-249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2016.03.015.
- Meir YB et al. (2019). Dietary restriction improved feed efficiency of inefficient lactating cows. J. Diary Sci. 102:8898-8906. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2019-16321.
- Meir YB et al (2021). Effect of forage-to-concentrate ratio on production efficiency of low-efficient highyielding lactating cows. Animal 15:100012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.animal.2020.100012
- Moriasi DN et al. (2007). Model evaluation guidelines for systematic quantification of accuracy in watershed simulations. Trans. ASABE 50:885-900. http://dx.doi.org/10.13031/2013.23153.
- Nasrollahi SM et al. (2020). The origin of N isotopic discrimination and its relationship with feed efficiency in fattening yearling bulls is diet-dependent. Plos one 15:e0234344. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234344.
- Negussie E et al. (2017). Invited review: Large-scale indirect measurements for enteric methane emissions in dairy cattle: A review of proxies and their potential for use in management and breeding decisions. J. Dairy Sci. 100:2433-2453. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2016-12030.
- O'Brien RM (2007). A caution regarding rules of thumb for variance inflation factors. Quality and Quantity 41:673–690. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-006-9018-6.
- Pinheiro JC, Bates DM (2000). Linear mixed-effects models: basic concepts and examples. Mixed-effects models in S and S-Plus, 3-56. Springer, New York.
- R Core Team. 2019. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Retrieved from https://www.R-project.org
- Remien CH (2015). Modeling the dynamics of stable isotope tissue-diet enrichment. J. Theor. Biol. 367:14-20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtbi.2014.11.018.
- Richardson EC et al. (2004). Metabolic differences in Angus steers divergently selected for residual feed intake. Aust. J. Exp. Agric. 44:441-452. https://doi.org/10.1071/EA02219.

- Sears J et al. (2009). Disentangling effects of growth and nutritional status on seabird stable isotope ratios. Oecologia 159:41-48. doi.org/10.1007/s00442-008-1199-3.
- Soleimani T, Gilbert H (2021). An approach to achieve overall farm feed efficiency in pig production: environmental evaluation through individual life cycle assessment. Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 26:455-469. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-020-01860-3.
- Taussat et al. (2019). Relationship between feed efficiency and slaughter traits of French Charolais bulls. J. Anim. Sci. 97:2308-2319. https://doi.org/10.1093/jas/skz108.
- Wattiaux MA, Reed JD (1995). Fractionation of nitrogen isotopes by mixed ruminal bacteria. J. Anim. Sci. 73, 257-266. https://doi.org/10.2527/1995.731257x
- Wheadon NM et al. (2014). Plasma nitrogen isotopic fractionation and feed efficiency in growing beef heifers. Br. J. Nutr. 111:1705-1711. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114513004078.